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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, Carmine

          3  says go.  Good afternoon.  I'm Council Member Helen

          4  Diane Foster, Chair of the Parks and Recreation

          5  Committee.  Before we get started, I want to take a

          6  point of personal privilege and just acknowledge

          7  that on Saturday, the Country and the City buried a

          8  giant in Ossie Davis (phonetic), and I was fortunate

          9  enough that I knew him personally.  He and my father

         10  had been friends for over 40 years and he really

         11  exemplified to whom much is given much is required.

         12  So, I just want to take a moment to extend my

         13  condolences to the family of Ossie Davis and to

         14  thank them for generously sharing him with the

         15  Country and the Nation.  We definitely need more

         16  giants like him.  So, thank you for indulging me

         17  and, Ossie, rest in peace.

         18                 I'm calling this meeting of the Parks

         19  Committee to order, trying to get the mic set.  This

         20  is always an interesting topic to me, when we talk

         21  about the lifeguards and the beaches and especially

         22  as cold and rainy as it is today, it's a nice warm

         23  topic.  I think what is equally important about it,

         24  is that it gives us enough time to have good

         25  conversation, generate ideas and see where we can go
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          2  from here in terms of getting the pools, the beaches

          3  and our lifeguards where we want them to be.

          4                 Council Member Eric Gioia, who

          5  actually was the prime sponsor on Intro. 462 is on

          6  his way and he will be giving a statement when he

          7  gets here.  But, in the interim, I think we can

          8  start the testimony and once he gets here, I'll ask

          9  just to hold it, let him make his statement.  Let me

         10  introduce my colleagues, we have Council Member Joe

         11  Addabbo, Council Member Erik Dilan, Tom Curry, the

         12  Staff Attorney for the Committee, Chima Obichere, I

         13  got it Chima and Amanda Mayer, I was going to say,

         14  like John Mayer.

         15                 So, that having been said, our first

         16  panel will be, First Deputy Commissioner Liam

         17  Kavanagh, Doctor Albert Montague, and Assistant

         18  Commissioner Jeanine Prud'Homme.  Did I get it

         19  right?  Thank you very much.  If you could just come

         20  to the table and you know what to do.  Thank you.

         21  Good afternoon. When you're situated, whoever wants

         22  to go first and however you want to do -- Carmine,

         23  we have some more right here, thank you -- that will

         24  be fine.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PRUD'HOMME:

                                                            5

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Are we on?  Good afternoon Chairperson Foster and

          3  Members of the City Council Parks and Recreation

          4  Committee.  My name is Jeanine Prud'Homme. I'm the

          5  Assistant Commissioner for the Bureau of

          6  Environmental Sciences and Engineering for the New

          7  York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

          8                 I appreciate the opportunity to

          9  testify on the Department's Beach Safety program.

         10  The DOHMH's key responsibilities in this area

         11  include permitting of all recreational beaches in

         12  New York City and monitoring recreational water

         13  quality.  I would like to take this opportunity to

         14  briefly outline the major components of the

         15  Department's Beach Safety program.

         16                 Standards for the operation and

         17  maintenance of bathing beaches in New York City are

         18  set forth in Article 167 of the City Health Code,

         19  which was reenacted in March, 2004. Article 167

         20  complies with the Nationwide requirements found in

         21  the Federal BEACH Act, an acronym for Beaches

         22  Environmental Assessment and Coastal Health Act of

         23  2000, and also with the New York State Sanitary

         24  Code.

         25                 The Department permits and monitors

                                                            6

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  approximately 19 City beaches, 12 of them are

          3  private and seven are operated by the Department of

          4  Parks and Recreation.  We have ongoing collaborative

          5  and productive working relationship with DPR.  Page

          6  one in your handouts that accompanies this testimony

          7  shows the locations of our New York City beaches.

          8                 The Department's Beach Safety program

          9  encompasses two major elements: A yearly

         10  comprehensive compliance and safety inspection

         11  conducted during the beach season, which is from May

         12  to September, and routine water quality monitoring,

         13  which also includes visual sanitary and safety

         14  inspections at the beaches. A copy of our yearly

         15  inspection report is maintained at each inspected

         16  facility.

         17                 Water quality monitoring takes place

         18  weekly, from May through September.  I'd like to

         19  briefly explain what this monitoring is about.  Most

         20  disease causing microbes exist at relatively low

         21  levels and are difficult and prohibitively expensive

         22  to characterize.  Indicator organisms have been used

         23  for more than a century to help identify where fecal

         24  contamination has occurred and, therefore, where

         25  disease- causing microbes may be present.  The
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          2  indicator organisms generally do not cause illness

          3  directly.  Rather, they characteristically serve as

          4  good indicators that fecal contamination has

          5  occurred and that harmful pathogens may be in the

          6  water.

          7                 The Federal Government, after much

          8  study, determined that the indicator organism of

          9  choice is the bacteria of the enterococcus.  These

         10  bacteria normally inhabit the intestines of humans

         11  and many animals and are found in fecal matter.  The

         12  government has set the threshold level for

         13  enterococcus at 35 colony forming units per 100

         14  milliliters in marine water, on average.  When

         15  calculated in a specific way that is known as a 30

         16  day moving geometric mean, which is a type of an

         17  average, the Environmental Protection Agency

         18  estimates that at such levels, approximately 19 out

         19  of 1,000 persons may contract recreational- related

         20  illness, which is primarily gastrointestinal

         21  illness.

         22                 The purposes of this monitoring then,

         23  is to determine whether the beach quality meets the

         24  public health standard for enterococcus bacteria.

         25  The primary criterion for making this determination
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          2  is a moving geometric average of five or more

          3  samples collected within the prior 30 day period.

          4  Threshold levels established by the EPA, if

          5  exceeded, trigger action that is determined by the

          6  health code.  Such actions include resampling,

          7  advisories or closures.

          8                 With respect to the frequency of

          9  monitoring, the Department employs a tiered system,

         10  developed with respect to potential pollution

         11  sources and historical water quality data, as

         12  recommended by the EPA.  Tier one and tier two

         13  beaches are monitored on a weekly basis, while tier

         14  three beaches, which currently comprise of the

         15  Rockaways only, are monitored bi weekly.  The table

         16  on page two of your handouts provide beach rankings

         17  by tier.

         18                 After collection, beach water samples

         19  are transported to the Department's public health

         20  laboratory for microbiological analysis, which takes

         21  a minimum of 24 hours. After completion of the

         22  analysis, sample results are them entered into a

         23  database to compute the average value I described

         24  earlier. The quality of the samples and information

         25  from the sanitary and safety surveys are reviewed
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          2  and assessed on the basis of conformance or non-

          3  conformance to the applicable standards.

          4                 After notifying the beach operator of

          5  the beach's status, by telephone and e- mail, we

          6  forward, on a daily basis, the computed values,

          7  together with our determination of the beach's

          8  status to the New York City Beach page on the

          9  Department's website.  We've given the Beach page

         10  address in your handouts.

         11                 Pages three and four of the handouts,

         12  printed from our Beach website, show the beach by

         13  beach information and an example of numerical

         14  results of sampling for each beach that are

         15  available to the public.  In addition to posting the

         16  results of sampling on our website, DOHMH notifies

         17  3- 1- 1 of the beach status on a continuous basis,

         18  and the same information is posted on the City's

         19  home page at nyc.gov.

         20                 The DOHMH website contains background

         21  and public education information summarizing this

         22  program.  It explains the causes and sources of

         23  surface water pollution, delineates our beach

         24  classification system and the four categories used,

         25  which are open, wet weather advisory, advisory and
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          2  closed, and provides an electronic form for

          3  reporting illness suspected of being related to

          4  swimming and bathing.  Such illnesses can also be

          5  reported via 3- 1- 1.    Some of the educational

          6  information on our website is reproduced on page

          7  five of your handout.  The on- line illness

          8  complaint form has be reproduced on pages six and

          9  seven.

         10                 Additionally, the Department

         11  monitors, on a daily basis, regional wet weather

         12  conditions and waste water treatment plant bypasses

         13  or spills through inter- agency communication and

         14  the EPA helicopter surveillance program.  This

         15  information can also contribute to and translate

         16  into determination of a beach's status, which I will

         17  explain in a little bit more detail later on.

         18                 If it determined from laboratory

         19  analysis and assessment and review of sample results

         20  or from other sources of information, or both, that

         21  there is a potential public health risk, the

         22  Department issues an advisory or closure order

         23  depending on the risk level and immediately notifies

         24  the beach operator of the action.

         25                 The Department's assessment and
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          2  review and notification to the beach operator, if

          3  warranted, takes place the same day that laboratory

          4  results are obtained.  As per the BEACH Act and

          5  Article 167, beach operators are required to issue

          6  public notifications, through postings, to inform

          7  the public of the potential risks associated with

          8  swimming and bathing immediately after being

          9  notified by the Department about the advisory or

         10  closure.

         11                 To better protect the public from

         12  potential accidents and injuries, Article 167 also

         13  requires the operator of a bathing beach to develop

         14  and implement a written safety plan, which outlines

         15  the policies and procedures to be followed at the

         16  bathing beach by facility personnel.  The plan

         17  contains injury and accident prevention activity and

         18  emergency response planning for all potential

         19  accidents or emergency situations.

         20                 Approval of a beach's safety plan is

         21  a requirement for obtaining a permit, and a copy of

         22  the approved plan must be present at the beach at

         23  all times.  Updates and changes to the plan must be

         24  resubmitted to the Department for approval before

         25  the new plan is implemented.  The major components
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          2  contained in the Beach Safety Plan are outlined on

          3  page eight of your handouts.

          4                 Finally, Article 167 requires that

          5  prior to daily beach opening, the operator or

          6  aquatic staff conduct a visual inspection for any

          7  sources of contamination that may potentially

          8  present a public health and safety threat.  If

          9  pollution, which may potentially present a public

         10  health threat, is observed, Article 167 requires the

         11  operator to close the beach immediately and notify

         12  the Department for further instructions.  The four

         13  classifications the Department assigns to beaches

         14  are listed on pages nine and ten of your handout.

         15                 Again, the classifications are open,

         16  wet weather advisory, advisory, and closed.  The

         17  open classification means that the beach is open for

         18  swimming and bathing.  To be open, the water

         19  conforms to the 35 per 100 milliliter 30 day

         20  geometric mean I've discussed.  The sanitary and

         21  safety surveys and epidemiological history must also

         22  be satisfactory.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Excuse me, I'm

         24  sorry, I said I was going to stop you.  Council

         25  Member Gioia's here.  We've been joined by Council
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          2  Member Gallagher also.  We're going to let Council

          3  Member Gioia, he was running a little late, give his

          4  statement, and then we'll get back to yours,

          5  testimony.  Thank you.  Council Member Gioia.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you very

          7  much Madam Chair.  I'm terribly sorry to interrupt

          8  your testimony and I apologize for being late.

          9  First, let me wish everyone a very Happy Valentine's

         10  Day today.  I'm wearing pink tie, let the record

         11  reflect.  Thank you Madam Chair, Members of the

         12  Committee, and everyone for joining us here today.

         13                 I Chair the Committee on Oversight

         14  and Investigations, which gives me the opportunity

         15  to look into a lot of issues facing our City and to

         16  think about ways to improve the way we deliver

         17  services and, in fact, participate in government.

         18  When I think about good public policies, the

         19  principles I always return to are transparency, open

         20  government and the accountability that follows.

         21                 What we found when we investigated

         22  New York City's beaches last summer, is that when it

         23  comes to our parks and beaches, we can improve all

         24  three of the above factors.  Right now, there is no

         25  way for New Yorkers to find out when the last time
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          2  their local beach or park was inspected or cleaned.

          3  Without any sense of how often the beaches were

          4  inspected or reports on what inspectors found, it's

          5  difficulty sometimes for us to tell if the

          6  conditions our investigations encountered were

          7  typical or abnormal, or, if we were even judging by

          8  the same standards.

          9                 City beaches have come a very long

         10  way since the days 17 or 18 years ago, when medical

         11  waste washed up upon our shores, forcing beaches

         12  across the entire City to be closed. Thankfully,

         13  those problems have largely been corrected.  And,

         14  I'd like to note the hardworking staff at the Parks

         15  Department, which the Council has long supported,

         16  should be commended for those efforts.

         17                 But, the Department's maintenance

         18  schedules are unknown and with that being said, and

         19  really, I do want to state that both, from the

         20  investigation and from my own personal experience at

         21  the parks in my district, the Parks workers work

         22  extraordinarily hard and actually do a fine job.  I

         23  want to be clear that I do say that.  But, this

         24  isn't about that, and it's not about pointing a

         25  finger of blame.  It's just really trying to figure
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          2  out ways, in my view, that we can work better

          3  together and also provide the public a mechanism

          4  with which to judge our performance, a public report

          5  card.

          6                 As I said, the Department's

          7  maintenance schedules are unknown to the public and

          8  the results of its inspections are not published.

          9  In fact, under the existing system, New Yorkers have

         10  no clear definition of that, the City's standards

         11  for a clean and safe park, what that standard

         12  actually is.  Intro. 462, the bill that I'm

         13  presenting to you today, aims to rectify that.

         14  Because I believe that our City's seven beaches and

         15  1,700 other parks and green spaces are a precious

         16  resource, this bill is designed to assure that our

         17  residents, that our residents are kept apprised of

         18  the status of each park.

         19                 This law, if enacted, will increase

         20  transparency within the parks and open lines of

         21  communications between the Department, the City

         22  Council, and most importantly, the public, by

         23  requiring the Parks Department to publish its

         24  standards and ratings on- line, not just for

         25  beaches, but for all of the City's parks and green
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          2  spaces.

          3                 For beaches, the date and the results

          4  of each inspection and water test would also posted

          5  on a sign at each beach.  Through its Parkstat Plus

          6  program, members of the Parks Department meet with

          7  people who actually maintain the parks to discuss

          8  performance, needs and strategies and each park is

          9  rated on cleanliness and upkeep.  The Parks' website

         10  allows visitors to give feedback about their

         11  experience at different parks and offer suggestions

         12  for improvement.

         13                 But, as a member of the public, if I,

         14  for example, want to know what inspectors found on

         15  their last visit to Rockaway Beach, the best I can

         16  do is to get the overall ratings of all the parks in

         17  Queens, and although the boroughs are divided into

         18  community districts, there's no information about

         19  how specific parks fare.  This bill will correct

         20  that.  It simply asks for access to information the

         21  Department already collects and should have on hard.

         22                 At its best, the government interacts

         23  and works with its citizens to achieve common goals,

         24  making more information public and making greater

         25  dialogue possible between the people who run parks
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          2  and beaches and the people who use them, will

          3  ultimately make them better for everyone.  This is a

          4  simple, low cost approach, and I appreciate the

          5  opportunity to have a Hearing on this issue and the

          6  Committee's action on the bill.

          7                 Just, really, to conclude, I do thank

          8  you for coming down here today and we had a, I

          9  released the report over the summer and my regret

         10  from the report, well, not really from the report,

         11  but really from the press coverage of the report, is

         12  that I didn't, it didn't come out, I said in the

         13  press conference as I said today, that I do very

         14  much appreciate the hard work that not only the

         15  Administration, but each of the park workers puts

         16  into ensuring the cleanliness of the beaches and the

         17  parks.

         18                 Again, this isn't about that, it's

         19  about bringing another level of transparency to

         20  government.  I think, as we are in the first decade

         21  of the 21st century, technology allows us the

         22  opportunity to add a layer of transparency that

         23  maybe was not available previously.  We've seen it

         24  in this City over the past decade with COMPSTAT,

         25  where you can find out how many cars were stolen in
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          2  Bayside last month quite easily, by walking up to

          3  any computer hooked up to the Internet.  It makes

          4  sense and it's a good way to get people involved and

          5  for them to see how government is operating.

          6                 This type of transparency was not

          7  available a quarter of a century ago.  It wasn't

          8  available when we began to do the Mayor's management

          9  reports or the preliminary management reports.  In

         10  fact, those two devices were extraordinary at giving

         11  the public a better sense of what government does.

         12  The Internet and the computer technology gives us

         13  the opportunity to do that on a monthly basis and in

         14  a transparent way, so that you don't have to be a

         15  legislator to find out exactly what is happening

         16  park by park or beach by beach.

         17                 Thank you for your presence here

         18  today.  I'm looking forward to your testimony, so

         19  that we can strengthen this and find ways to work

         20  together to improve our park and beach system

         21  throughout New York.  Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you

         23  Council Member. You may continue now.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PRUD'HOMME:

         25  Okay.  We were finishing up the Department of Mental
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          2  Health and Hygiene's testimony by discussing what

          3  the beach's classifications are.  We were, I'd like

          4  to start with describing, I think I did, the open

          5  classification means that the beach is open for

          6  swimming and bathing.  To be open, the water must

          7  conform to the 35 per 100 ml 30 day geometric mean

          8  that I've discussed.  The sanitary and safety

          9  surveys and epidemiological history must also be

         10  satisfactory with no repeated reports of illness or

         11  injury.

         12                 Secondly, the wet weather advisory is

         13  a preemptive standard.  It's for certain beaches

         14  only.  It's based on a certain pre- determined level

         15  of rainfall specific to each beach. Rainfall levels

         16  that trigger wet weather advisories are associated

         17  with point source and non- point sources of storm

         18  water runoff that can compromise beach water

         19  quality.  Of the public beaches, only Manhattan

         20  Beach in Coney Island and Midland and South Beaches

         21  in Staten Island are potentially affected by

         22  rainfall and, therefore, subject to wet weather

         23  advisories.

         24                 By issuing wet weather advisories, we

         25  can effectively adjust this type of potential water
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          2  quality problem at these beaches.  A wet weather

          3  advisory condition indicates that swimming and

          4  bathing are not recommended, but not prohibited.

          5  The third advisory category indicates that swimming

          6  and bathing are not recommended, but not prohibited

          7  due to a possible increased risk of exposure to

          8  disease- causing microorganisms.

          9                 The fourth final category, closed,

         10  during which swimming and bathing are temporarily

         11  not permitted, can result from one or a combination

         12  of factors, including confirmed samples exceeding

         13  the enterococcus limit.

         14                 The difference between a beach being

         15  under advisory and being closed is that an advisory

         16  informs the swimmer of a potential risk, whereas a

         17  closure indicates a confirmed risk from prolonged

         18  and elevated bacteria levels that exceed local,

         19  state and federal standards.

         20                 In addition to the use of

         21  enterococcus levels, other factors that may affect

         22  beach status including epidemiological data or

         23  repeated reports indicating a significant incident

         24  of illness or injury related to the beach, surveys

         25  or investigations revealing the presence of
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          2  hazardous conditions, and other conditions that the

          3  Department determines to be public health or safety

          4  hazards.

          5                 As I've already indicated, the

          6  Department's classification of beaches is rapidly

          7  communicated to beach operators and to the public.

          8  The newer recently instituted bacterial standards,

          9  testing processes, multiple sources of information

         10  and more rapid communication and coordination

         11  systems that underlie our beach quality program,

         12  have evolved into an increasingly sophisticated and

         13  timely methodology over the years, such that I can

         14  state that the City's beach waters are well

         15  monitored and the public's health and safety well

         16  protected through the program we have in place.

         17                 I thank you again for giving me the

         18  opportunity to testify on the Department's beach

         19  water quality program in New York City, and I'd be

         20  happy to answer any questions the Committee and

         21  Council Members may have.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  Dr.

         23  Montague, are you going, do you, okay.  So, Deputy

         24  Commissioner Kavanagh, should we ask them questions

         25  and then go to your testimony, or do we want to do
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          2   --

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  Whichever you prefer is fine with me.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Why don't we, go

          6  ahead, okay, then could you give your statement?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          8  Of course. Good afternoon Chairwoman Foster and

          9  Members of the Parks Committee and the Council

         10  Oversight Committee.  On behalf of Commissioner

         11  Benape, I'm pleased to be here today to discuss our

         12  beaches, pools and lifeguards.  But, before I talk

         13  about the status of some of our most popular

         14  recreational facilities and this year's lifeguard

         15  recruitment, I would like to discuss Parks'

         16  commitment to beach cleanliness.

         17                 There are two components to beach

         18  cleanliness, that is the condition of the water and

         19  the condition of the sand. As you just heard, the

         20  Department of Health has a comprehensive program in

         21  place to monitor the quality of water at the City's

         22  beaches.  Parks and Recreation is responsible for

         23  keeping the beaches clean and safe, and we do this

         24  through a program of regular maintenance and

         25  inspections.
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          2                 Because the Department of Health is

          3  responsible for testing the quality of water at the

          4  beaches, we are in constant communication with them

          5  during the beach season.  From May through

          6  September, the Health Department regularly calls my

          7  office to report on the results of their water

          8  quality tests.

          9                 When the Department of Health

         10  contacts us with a problem, we take the following

         11  steps to ensure that the public is informed:  First,

         12  we notify the park managers that the Department of

         13  Health has issued a swimming advisory or closed the

         14  beach.  We also alert the lifeguards in the case of

         15  a beach closure, the park enforcement patrol and the

         16  responsible police precincts.  We communicate the

         17  information to the public by posting signs at every

         18  beach entrance.  Beachgoers can also learn about

         19  swimming advisories or beach closings by calling 3-

         20  1- 1, visiting Parks' and the Department of Health's

         21  websites, or through the numerous media outlets that

         22  we notify of an advisory or a beach closing.

         23                 In terms of beach cleanliness, Parks'

         24  maintenance and operations division works to ensure

         25  that all Parks facilities are clean and safe.
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          2  During the summer, we add additional seasonal staff

          3  and rely on specially designed equipment to maintain

          4  the beaches.

          5                 In addition to the approximately

          6  2,400 year- round maintenance employees, we

          7  typically have over 250 seasonal staff, who are

          8  assigned to clean the beaches and keep them safe.

          9  On an average, we spend about $2.2 million per year

         10  on maintenance and that's, that's over and above the

         11  cost of lifeguards, cost of park enforcement patrol

         12  for maintaining the beach.

         13                 Each day, our crews begin cleaning

         14  the City's beaches to get them ready for the 10:00

         15  a.m. Opening.  The use a fleet of equipment, unique

         16  to beach cleaning, including beach kings and surf

         17  rakes.  Beach kings are pulled behind tractors and

         18  sift the fine sand areas above the water line.  They

         19  sift out all types of dangerous litter, including

         20  broken glass.  Surf rakes are used to clean the

         21  heavy and wet sand near the shore line. They are

         22  used to pull small and floatable debris, such as

         23  seaweed and other litter from the sand at the water

         24  line.

         25                 We don't stop there, as a safeguard,
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          2  our park supervisor instructs, inspects the shore

          3  line each morning, after the crews have completed

          4  their work, much as was described in the testimony

          5  by the Department of Health.  The supervisor also

          6  looks for debris and anything that may present a

          7  health hazard.

          8                 During the day, we periodically empty

          9  full garbage containers, while seasonal staff walk

         10  along the beach and stab and bag litter that has

         11  been disposed of improperly.

         12                 A new aspect of our beach maintenance

         13  plan is the Park Greeter program, which we

         14  instituted last summer.  Under this program, park

         15  greeters were assigned to the most popular beaches

         16  and parks around the five boroughs, to encourage

         17  people to treat the park with respect and keep it

         18  clean by picking up after themselves.  They also

         19  offer directions, maps and informational literature

         20  to visitors in an effort to make it even easier to

         21  enjoy a day at the park or beach.

         22                 In addition to our daily maintenance,

         23  we also have night crews that clean our busiest

         24  beaches five nights a week, Friday through Tuesday,

         25  the days with the heaviest beach usership.
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          2                 The Park inspection program

          3  periodically inspects beach zones on a random basis,

          4  applying the same standards and criteria used for

          5  park and playground inspections throughout the City.

          6    Parks and Recreation recognizes the importance of

          7  beaches to New Yorkers and has dedicated significant

          8  resources to keeping the beaches clean.  The success

          9  of this program is evident by the number of people

         10  who visit our beaches for sun and fun every summer.

         11                 We understand that the Council

         12  introduced, has offered Introduction 462, because

         13  they are concerned about beach cleanliness and the

         14  City's procedures for communicating information to

         15  the public.  We share those concerns.  We believe

         16  that the public is entitled to clean, safe beaches

         17  and the public has a right to know, you know, what

         18  the results of our inspections are.

         19                 While we appreciate the Council's

         20  interest in these two subjects, in its current form,

         21  Intro. 462 is problematic.  Intro. 462 would require

         22  Parks to post additional signs, including the

         23  results of inspections made by both Parks and the

         24  Department of Health.

         25                 We already comply with the rigorous
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          2  sign requirement detailed in the City Health Code

          3  and the State Sanitary Code.  These Codes require us

          4  to post signs stating the hours when the beaches are

          5  open and lifeguards are on duty, and when the beach

          6  is closed due to public health hazards.  We post

          7  these signs at every entrance to the beach and the

          8  boardwalk and also on sectional markers and light

          9  poles where applicable. Because of the diverse

         10  population of New York City, we currently have signs

         11  that state these same things in English, Spanish and

         12  Russian.

         13                 Additional posting requirements would

         14  be a drain on our resources and numerous signs could

         15  dilute the important messages that we're trying to

         16  communicate to the public.  There are close to 250

         17  entrances at our seven beaches, 153 entrances at

         18  Rockaway Beach alone.  Posting weekly water quality

         19  results and Parks' bi- weekly inspection results at

         20  every entrance could be extremely time consuming.

         21  The staff time would be, we think, would be better

         22  spent on maintaining the beaches than on posting

         23  additional signage.  We believe that posting the

         24  results at locations where large crowds congregate,

         25  such as comfort stations, might be  a better use of
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          2  these resources and still communicate an important

          3  message to the public.

          4                 Further, posting DOH inspection

          5  results, when there is no problem, that is when they

          6  had a finding that the beach can be opened, could be

          7  confusing to the public.  We think it is important

          8  to maintain that distinction that posting is done

          9  when there is an advisory and when a beach is closed

         10  is extremely important, so that we do not either

         11  confuse or dilute the importance of the message.

         12                 Now, there is also the possibility

         13  that posting an open finding from DOH could confuse

         14  the public, because our beaches are only open from

         15  10:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. every day, and we can only

         16  let the public swim when lifeguards are on duty.

         17  Posting another sign saying open, could give the

         18  public the wrong impression that the beach is open

         19  for swimming at other times than, than is actually

         20  available.

         21                 The bill would also require us to

         22  post inspection results on- line.  As you heard from

         23  Assistant Commissioner Prud'Homme, DOH's water

         24  quality results are already posted on the website.

         25  By the end of March this year, the Parks Department
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          2  will also be able to post the results of all of our

          3  park inspection results on- line.

          4                 Currently, we do provide the summary

          5  of that information in the Mayor's Management

          6  Report, which is issued twice a year, and the

          7  results, by community board, though not individual

          8  park, are currently available through the, through

          9  the Mayor's Office of Operations My Community

         10  website.  So, you can already find it at a certain

         11  level, but we will have it available for every park

         12  in the City by the end of March.

         13                 We have been working hard to provide

         14  the public with ratings information for individual

         15  parks as well, and as I said before, we're happy to

         16  announce that this March it will be available.  The

         17  new application will allow users to find and view

         18  maps of their favorite parks in the City.  You will

         19  simply have to put in the park name, zip code or the

         20  park address. Additionally, the system will provide

         21  relevant information associated with each property,

         22  including inspection data, events, facility

         23  information, historical information and press

         24  releases.

         25                 We will continue to maintain the
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          2  City's beaches and look for innovative ways to keep

          3  the public informed. However, cleaner beaches cannot

          4  be achieved simply through the Parks' maintenance of

          5  it and inspection programs.  We can clean the litter

          6  left behind by beachgoers, but garbage reaches the

          7  water and the beaches from other sources.  According

          8  to the Environmental Protection Agency, the most

          9  common source of floatable debris in the water comes

         10  from storm water runoff, ships, landfills and

         11  combined sewer outflows.

         12                 Although New Yorkers have no direct

         13  control over some of these sources, they can play a

         14  large role in reducing the litter that washes up on

         15  the beach from storm water runoff. Storm water

         16  runoff, the water that flows along streets and along

         17  the ground as a result of a rain storm can carry

         18  street litter into storm drains, which brings the

         19  water and debris to nearby rivers or streams or

         20  directly to the ocean.

         21                 Typical floatables from storm water

         22  that end up on the City's beaches include street

         23  litter, such as cigarette butts, food packaging and

         24  beverage containers.  Last summer, the Departments

         25  of Sanitation and Environmental Protection launched
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          2  a media campaign to highlight this phenomenon and

          3  I'll, and these are many of the things that were

          4  found in the Council's study last summer along the

          5  shoreline.

          6                 The City's shoreline should be

          7  considered, would be considerably cleaner if the

          8  public disposed of their garbage properly.  We think

          9  the Park Greeter program will change the way people

         10  dispose of garbage in parks and would welcome the

         11  Council's assistance in preventing litter on our

         12  streets from reaching our beaches.

         13                 In collusion, the City's beaches are

         14  important resources.  They are a source of aesthetic

         15  beauty and act of passive recreation and have a

         16  great local, and have great local economic value.

         17  It is important that we all continue to protect and

         18  preserve these resources.  Parks and recreation will

         19  continue to do its part, but requiring additional

         20  signage and posting at every entrance may not be the

         21  right way to go about achieving that goal.  I'd be

         22  happy to answer any questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  Let

         24  me start with Assistant Commissioner Prud'Homme?

         25  Did I say it correctly? What, how do we, what is the
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          2  definition for tiers?  So, how are certain beaches

          3  in tier one, tier two and tier three, and then what

          4  is the breakdown, tier one and tier two?  From your

          5  testimony, if I'm correct, the water's tested

          6  weekly, but on tier three, it's bi- weekly.  Can you

          7  just explain?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PRUD'HOMME:

          9  It has to do with their historical cleanliness data,

         10  what is the likelihood of them, of the beaches,

         11  being influenced by these point and non point

         12  pollution sources that we've discussed, including

         13  those sources that Commissioner Kavanagh presented.

         14  So, tier one and tier two tend to be more prone to

         15  influences --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PRUD'HOMME:

         18   -- That may affect water quality.  Tier three,

         19  Rockaway Beach, tends to be, for, to put the word in

         20  quotations one of the cleaner beaches based on

         21  hydrogeology, where it is, what potential sources

         22  that it has.

         23                 We have much, much data that allows

         24  us to be comfortable with these tier rankings.

         25  We're very comfortable because we have years worth
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          2  of data, sampling data, on a weekly basis, for every

          3  beach season that really supports and confirms that

          4  these rankings are appropriate.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  With the signage

          6  that is currently at the beach, does any, are any of

          7  the signs, do they tell you the status of the water?

          8    You know, like if you're in the Caribbean, it will

          9  tell you high tide or undercurrent or whatever.

         10  Does the signage currently say, give any information

         11  in terms of the quality of the water in, what is

         12  important to me, a language that we can understand?

         13  Like, I can't even probably pronounce the bacteria

         14  that was tested for.  So, if I saw the sign and it

         15  say, blah, blah, blah, bacteria is blank, that would

         16  mean nothing to me, because I don't know what that

         17  means.  So, is there current signage that a lay

         18  person would understand when approaching the beach?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PRUD'HOMME:

         20  The current signage has signs for the categories

         21  that we discussed.  The signage for wet weather

         22  advisory will just tell you swimming and bathing are

         23  not recommended due to a potential of possible

         24  pollution.  It's written in very general terms.  We

         25  do not have a system for putting numerical results
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          2  on signs.

          3                 I agree with you, we don't mention

          4  the word enterococcus bacteria.  We don't want the

          5  message to get lost in nuances that are not really

          6  important.  What we support is not so much a system,

          7  notification system based on numbers, and I'll give

          8  you an example why.  But, just a notification of the

          9  system based on, we're looking and because it rained

         10  or because maybe we saw a blip in the bacteria

         11  levels.  We're saying, there may be a potential for

         12  swimming- related illness.  Or, we may be saying, we

         13  took many samples, and because of a trend we know

         14  that, really, we do want to close this beach.  We're

         15  putting it in lay persons terms without the numbers.

         16                 I'd like to, if you can refer to your

         17  handout, page four, which provides the actual

         18  numbers that we get on a weekly basis.  Also, what

         19  happens, whenever we put a beach under an advisory

         20  or a closure status, that automatically means even

         21  more sampling.  So, as soon as we're under an

         22  advisory, we're out there to much more closely

         23  monitor the conditions because we are seeing

         24  something, we want to make sure we're on top of

         25  them.
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          2                 So, going to the example of the

          3  numbers on page four for Orchard Beach, looking at

          4  on 5/22, the numbers were well below the 30, the 30

          5  day geometric mean, again, our criteria is 35, that

          6  we're looking for.  So, here, we're, it's six and

          7  six. But, then, all of a sudden, we're seeing

          8  something on 5/29, it's 39.  So, it's showing us

          9  that there's something there.  But, because there's

         10  not a trend, we're putting that beach under -- if

         11  that number 34, in the right- hand column had been

         12  over 35, let's say, then we would have put the beach

         13  under an advisory status. And, we're saying, look,

         14  there's may have, may be a potential here, there may

         15  be something happening, but we're not definitely

         16  seeing a confirmed risk.

         17                 Also the, these means and the

         18  indicators that EPA has established are also based

         19  on swimmers and swimmers' trends and they're

         20  actually, the risk of illness that we cited 19 out

         21  of 1,000 swimmers is not actually due to one bathing

         22  event.  It's actually because it's based over a 30

         23  minute period.  It's basically the more you're going

         24  to swim and immerse your head and be in contact with

         25  water with this trend, the more likelihood your risk
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          2  of illness, primarily gastrointestinal.

          3                 We will be working with the Parks

          4  Department this summer on making whatever signage

          5  enhancements makes sense and that are easy and

          6  facilitate public information.  I, we have not

          7  determined, at this point, whether or not it will

          8  contain specific enterococcus language or numbers.

          9  Our concern is that the numbers may get lost on

         10  persons.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So, every week,

         12  someone could come to this site and see what the

         13  number count is for Orchard Beach.  Commissioner

         14  Kavanagh, does the Parks Department weekly, bi-

         15  weekly, whatever, do an inspection of the beaches

         16  and what does that inspection entail?  Or, it is

         17  just, I know you mentioned in the testimony the

         18  daily, its raked and the wet water rake and the sand

         19  rake, but is there anything else?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  No, there is a daily inspection by a supervisor of

         22  the entire shoreline of the beach.  And, of course,

         23  we inspect the rest of the facility as well, the

         24  boardwalks, sand, stairways, everything that, you

         25  know, is part of the beach itself.  The inspections
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          2  by the Park Inspection program, however, they're

          3  part of the, of the random, you know, inspection

          4  program that we have.  So, while beaches do get

          5  inspected during the course of the summer, it is not

          6  on a regular routine basis.  It is part of a random

          7  sort.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And is there

          9  anywhere on the website where I can pull up and say,

         10  Orchard Beach, section, you know how Orchard Beach

         11  has section 13, this is the cleanliness rate, or

         12  anything that will give me what area is maybe the

         13  most clean?  For example, you know, when you get to

         14  Orchard Beach, people tend to, right where you park,

         15  and I don't know what the number is, that section is

         16  always the most crowded.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So, you can go

         20  down the boardwalk further to 13 or further up and

         21  it's a little less crowded.  I'm assuming, and I

         22  don't know, that maybe the areas where there's less

         23  people might be more clean or not, I don't know.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         25  Well, certainly, you'll get less litter in the areas
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          2  where there are less people, but the, you know, the

          3  material that washes up is a function of the tides

          4   --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7   -- Primarily, so, that could happen at any place

          8  along the shore.  But, as I said in my testimony,

          9  you cannot get the individual inspection results

         10  right now, the end of March you will.

         11                 In terms of Orchard Beach, though, we

         12  don't inspect each individual bay.  But, we divided

         13  Orchard Beach, like we do at most parks, into zones,

         14  and Orchard Beach, there are two zones.  There's a

         15  north zone and a south zone, and they are inspected

         16  separately from each other.  You know, at the other

         17  beaches that are particularly large, like Rockaway,

         18  there are ten zones, ten inspection zones for

         19  Rockaway and at Coney Island there are eight.  So,

         20  it depends on the size of the facility.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.  When was

         22  the last time City beach was closed because of

         23  unclean water or unhealthy hazards in the water or

         24  on the shoreline?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  We closed beach the day, two days after the

          3  blackout, the day after, the immediate day after the

          4  blackout, of course, and some beaches remained

          5  closed for up to three days until, you know, tests

          6  indicated that there was no, there was no threat of

          7  pollutions, pollutants in the water.  But, other

          8  than that, certainly in the last three years, there

          9  was no other time when we closed the beach.  I

         10  believe there was one advisory issued last season

         11  for a very short period of time.  But, that is the

         12  only, the only other action that was, that I recall.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PRUD'HOMME:

         14  Right, we have, for the seven public beaches for the

         15  2004 bathing season, Orchard Beach, Rockaway Beach,

         16  Coney Island, Manhattan, Midland, South Beach and

         17  Wolfe's Pond Park, there were a total of zero

         18  closure days, three wet weather advisory days and

         19  ten pollution advisory days.  Again, this would be a

         20  scenario of swimming and bathing not recommended,

         21  but not prohibited.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Do you find that

         23  the water is cleaner than in years past, the same,

         24  or not as clean?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PRUD'HOMME:
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          2  The, when the EPA, the Health Code and the State

          3  Sanitary Code used to monitory bacteriological

          4  cleanliness based on a coliform standard.  That, the

          5  EPA's BEACH Act did change that indicator from

          6  coliform to enterococcus.

          7                 We did do a side by side study, in a

          8  prior beach season, to see if there was any

          9  correlation of the numbers we would get from

         10  coliform based on, versus enterococcus, and we did

         11  not see a correlation.  So, the data will not allow

         12  us to answer that question and there are different

         13  numbers, different indicators and one thing we want

         14  the public to understand is that these numbers are

         15  not directly comparable and it does not necessarily

         16  mean that their beaches are any dirtier.  Do you

         17  want to add about.

         18                 DR. MONTAGUE:  About the only thing I

         19  can tell you is the recent EPA enactment of the 2004

         20  Beach program provides us with now a unique

         21  opportunity, which is why you really saw zero

         22  closures, is that the turnaround time is 24 hours,

         23  which means we, we really have the wherewithal to

         24  make a very quick determination and convey that to

         25  the public at large.  So, in terms of our
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          2  responsiveness to ensure or to better ensure that

          3  the waters are safe, is far superior to where we

          4  were before.

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          6  If I can add --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Sure.

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9   -- The Department of Environmental Protection also

         10  conducts water studies.  The Department of Health,

         11  of course, does it for the public health aspect,

         12  that is people using the beaches for bathing

         13  purposes.  But, DEP monitors water quality at 53

         14  different points in New York Harbor and performs

         15  routine tests of numerous water quality indicators.

         16                 I'm not going to read them all

         17  because I probably can't pronounce them.  But, the

         18  annual reports indicate that, indicate continual

         19  improvement, in fact, dramatic improvement over the

         20  30 years since, I think, the Federal Clean Water

         21  Standards went into effect.

         22                 The City has invested probably

         23  billions of dollars in waste water treatment and

         24  combined sewer outflows and, in fact, the waters

         25  around New York City are healthier than they've been
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          2  since the beginning of the 20th century, and that's

          3  pretty well documented.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Great.  Before I

          5  turn it over to Council Member Addabbo, do you think

          6  that in terms of the signage and letting people, the

          7  New Yorkers, making them aware of the quality of the

          8  beaches, that the current signage that we have is

          9  sufficient or is there something else we can do to

         10  improve that?  I know you mentioned in March there

         11  will be additional information, but do you think

         12  that in and of itself is sufficient?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14  I think the, posting the information on- line will

         15  be a big step forward, people will have access to it

         16  24 hours a day, seven days a week. But, not

         17  everybody has a computer, so I think it is important

         18  that we find other ways to get the information to

         19  the public.

         20                 You know, we, we, we do think that

         21  posting it at places where people congregate does

         22  several things.  One, it does get it to the people

         23  who are using the facility, number one, in a way

         24  that they don't have to have a computer, and it's in

         25  a way that is manageable for us.  I mean, we're
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          2  already at that facility providing some kind of

          3  service.  The incremental, you know, work involved

          4  in posting this information is not, is certainly not

          5  onerous, and think it would be an effective way to

          6  get more information out.  We, you know, we believe

          7  in this, I mean, this Administration launched 3- 1-

          8  1 to get the public involved in City services and I

          9  think that's been a tremendous success.

         10                 In addition to our, our website,

         11  where we have a park survey and we invite the

         12  public, you know, to tell us what the, you know,

         13  what they see and what they think, you know, about

         14  their park experiences, we have an active park

         15  survey program, where we go out to parks and

         16  playgrounds and ask people what they think.  Last

         17  year, we conducted over 6,000 of these surveys in

         18  parks and playgrounds to get an idea of what the

         19  people think of our product.  We think that's

         20  important to us.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         22  Council Member Addabbo.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         24  Madam Chair and I want to thank you and the

         25  Committee Staff and my colleague, Council Member
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          2  Gioia, for their efforts here today, because, you

          3  know, beach quality and water quality is such an

          4  important issue for many of our residents.  I'm a

          5  representative of part of the Rockaways and I know

          6  how important it is to my residents and also the

          7  visitors and to the millions of visitors throughout

          8  the City who use our beaches.  This is a very

          9  important issue to them, to the users, the residents

         10  and the visitors, but also to our local businesses,

         11  who depend upon the visitation for their business.

         12  So, this a very important issue and I do appreciate

         13  your time and efforts here today as well.

         14            I guess my first question, it was touched

         15  upon earlier to Commissioner Prud'Homme, and again,

         16  thank you for being here. In recent memory, because

         17  you had mentioned something about the last time

         18  beaches were closed due to a public health risk, in

         19  recent memory there has been none.  Do you remember

         20  the last time it was closed by the Department of

         21  Health?  Do we have any information regarding the

         22  last time a City beach was closed because of that?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PRUD'HOMME:  I

         24  believe that there were some private beaches closed

         25  last summer --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Last summer.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PRUD'HOMME:

          4   -- But those are privates.  And, the last time, as

          5  Commissioner Kavanagh had mentioned, in our

          6  recollection, was the summer of 2003, when all

          7  beaches were closed due to the blackout and due to,

          8  there was, there were, waste water treatment plant

          9  concerns and --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Okay.  I

         11  just want to make sure that those closures were due

         12  to the debris found. Commissioner Kavanagh, the

         13  question of 462, to my Council Member, my colleague,

         14  Eric Gioia's point that the information already

         15  exists, it's out there, and to get it to the public,

         16  again to your point, I think is very important.

         17                 To be on-line is very important, but,

         18  like you said, calls 3- 1- 1 and says, I live at

         19  certain address in front of beach what have you, can

         20  I find out information regarding the last time it

         21  was, you know, checked out and the findings of that

         22  last study.  Do you think that information could be

         23  found on 3- 1- 1 eventually?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         25  Of course, it's possible.  I'm not, I don't want to
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          2  speak for the Department of Information and

          3  Technology, you know, that kind of a, of an exchange

          4  could, could be a bit of a challenge to do

          5  effectively. You can call 3- 1- 1 and find out

          6  whether or not there is any advisory posted for the

          7  beach, that is a water advisory.  If, if, you know,

          8  Orchard Beach, for instance was under an advisory,

          9  you could call 3- 1- 1 and get that information.

         10                 Technically, of course, it's possible

         11  a 3- 1- 1 operator could go to the Park website and

         12  could call up a particular property and could find

         13  the inspection results. Whether that is a practical

         14  way to get that information out, I'm not prepared to

         15  say right here and now.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I'd like to

         17  propose that, if I may, only because, again, I think

         18  the merits of 462 are very well done in the sense

         19  that, and are important, to get the information out

         20  there.  To your point, Rockaway Beach does have many

         21  entrances, so what criteria would be used to pick

         22  one entrance and obviously omit others could be a

         23  problem.  But, since the information is out there

         24  and it is available, if people don't have a

         25  computer, again, I would think everyone has a phone
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          2  and can dial 3- 1- 1 and they have been, since it is

          3  a popular number.  So, again, I would make that

          4  proposal that we can get this information somehow to

          5  the accessible, through 3- 1- 1. Hopefully, 3- 1- 1

          6  operators have the capability or the ability to get

          7  that information once somebody does call it in.

          8                 You had also mentioned some of the

          9  equipment that you use to clean up the beaches.

         10  Obvious, this is of great concern to me.  What is

         11  the average age of this equipment that you're using

         12  these days to clean the beaches?  And, if they're

         13  being replaced because they are older, what is the

         14  average cost of a piece of equipment?

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  The cost, I can probably give you, a customized

         17  piece of beach cleaning equipment runs between

         18  $80,000 and $100,000, basically, depending on which

         19  of the two pieces you buy.  The age, I don't have

         20  that information handy.  I'll certainly get it to

         21  you.  I would guess since the average age of our

         22  fleet is about eight years, the beach equipment is

         23  probably in that range.  Beach equipment has a

         24  longer life span, oddly enough, because it is

         25  seasonal equipment and doesn't get used throughout

                                                            48

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  the entire course of the year, as much of our other

          3  equipment does.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I would

          5  appreciate that, only because if we need to see the

          6  Parks Department go into this phase of replacing

          7  equipment in order to help, you know, again, keep

          8  the beaches clean and so forth and accessible to the

          9  users, if need be, then we'd like to look at the

         10  budgetary effect on the cost of replacing some of

         11  this equipment.  So, I appreciate the information

         12  Commissioner Kavanagh, thank you, and thank you

         13  Madam Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         15  Council Member Gioia.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you

         17  Madam Chair. Thank you very much for your testimony.

         18    I appreciate your support for the principals of

         19  the bill and the idea that transparency is a good

         20  thing in government.

         21                 Let me first assure you, I mean, as I

         22  said, the goal is to just provide more information,

         23  not to be onerous or to take away from actually

         24  cleaning the beaches.  So, that's why I was eager to

         25  hear your testimony and your suggestions on
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          2  improvement today.  I'm very open to amending the

          3  bill to change it from every entrance to certain

          4  other areas.  What would be very helpful from you

          5  would be, I mean, could you guys put together a list

          6  of where you think it would be appropriate, where it

          7  would not be onerous?  In other words, you're saying

          8  that there are certain places where people

          9  congregate or maybe you could provide that to the

         10  Chair and the Council, as well as to Travis Stampus

         11  (phonetic), who is the head of investigations of my

         12  Committee, would that be possible?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14  Yes, I will be happy to provide that information.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  And, should we

         16  amend it in that way and come to some agreement, I

         17  would assume, then, you would then be supportive of

         18  that posting requirement, that's what your testimony

         19  was?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Excellent.

         23  Then, for the on- line portion of it, just to pick

         24  up on Council Member Addabbo's point, my vision of

         25  this is that it's so simple, that if you were to
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          2  call 3- 1- 1, well the 3- 1- 1 operator, I mean I've

          3  called 3- 1- 1 many times, as I imagine most people

          4  in this room have, what they're going to do is that

          5  they're going to look on your website and they're

          6  going to answer the question.

          7                 You know, they're going to go to

          8  whatever, you know Wynn Mullett Park (phonetic) or

          9  Rockaway Beach, and they're going to say, well, yes,

         10  it was inspected, you know, two days ago by -- do

         11  you remember those old commercials for Fruit of the

         12  Loom, you'd look at the t- shirt, what is Fruit of

         13  the Loom? Where it said, inspected by number 151?

         14  Well that's exactly what the 3- 1- 1 operator should

         15  be able to do, is be able to log onto the website

         16  the way any citizen would and say, yes, it has been

         17  inspected, and this is what they found.

         18                 So, I don't expect you to speak for

         19  DOIT, but I mean, to me, I just want to be clear on

         20  the record what I'm envisioning here, is a very

         21  user- friendly website that tells you, this is the

         22  name of the park, this is the name of the beach,

         23  this is when it was inspected and this is what we

         24  found.

         25                 Eventually, I mean I'd love it if
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          2  your inspectors went out with cameras and digital

          3  cameras, because a picture does say a thousand

          4  words.  Then they can be able to click on and --

          5  when I go on Expedia and I try to book a hotel room

          6  somewhere, not only do I get, you know, bloggers who

          7  review it, but I'm able to click on a digital photo

          8  of the place and see what it looks like.  There's

          9  even one I went to, actually, they had a camera, you

         10  could actually see it in real time what was

         11  happening in the lobby of the hotel.

         12                 So, I'm not suggesting that we're

         13  there just yet for the beaches and the parks.  I

         14  don't think you should have that up next week, but

         15  this is where we're going, and that's what I do hope

         16  to accomplish.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  In terms of, in terms of the website, I believe it

         19  will be user- friendly and people will be able to

         20  access the information.  There is sort of a unique

         21  problem though with trying to get information about

         22  the neighborhood parks.  We have, you know, very

         23  official names for each of the parks in the system.

         24  However, that's not exactly what the public often

         25  knows them by, and you would be surprised at how
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          2  difficult it is to overcome that.

          3                 So, you know, while we know a park,

          4  you know, such as Carmansville Playground in

          5  Northern Manhattan, the immediate community has two

          6  or three different names that they use for that

          7  park, and it's not unusual for them to call and ask

          8  for it by one of those other names.  And, if you ask

          9  for it by that other name, you're not going to find

         10  Carmansville Playground, unfortunately. But, it is

         11  one of those quirky New York kind of things that

         12  it's hard to overcome, even with, you know, the all

         13  the technology that we have available to us today.

         14  So --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  I do

         16  appreciate that. There's a bridge that connects

         17  Queens and Manhattan, that people often refer to as

         18  the 59th Street Bridge.  In fact, it's the

         19  Queensborough Bridge.  So, I do appreciate the

         20  problem.  On the website itself, I mean, I would

         21  suggest just that there be maps as well that people

         22  can point to and they pop out, or addresses and --

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         24  There are maps, there is, you know, you can call it

         25  up by community board, and you can scroll through
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          2  the whole list until you find the one that you're

          3  looking for, by zip code, if it's something that's,

          4  you know, right close to your home, you'll be able

          5  to do it that way.  You'll be able to go to a map as

          6  well.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Excellent.

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  But all of those steps take time and I don't know if

         10  3- 1- 1 is --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  No, fair

         12  enough.

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14   -- Even set up to take that much time with one

         15  individual call.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  If you don't

         17  mind, I have a few more quick questions for you.

         18  Are there written guidelines or checklists for the

         19  inspections?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  For the Park Inspection program, yes, there are 16

         22  criteria that they evaluate every park or playground

         23  or beach zoned with and, obviously, they only use

         24  those criteria that apply.  But, the basics are, of

         25  course, the cleanliness features, which include
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          2  glass, graffiti, litter and weeds.  The structural

          3  features include play equipment, pave surface,

          4  safety surface, sidewalks, benches and fences.

          5  Then, you have landscape elements, lawns and trees

          6  and water bodies and things like that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Would you mind

          8  making that check list or that criteria available

          9  both to this Committee and to mine as well?

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  Certainly.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Thank you.

         13  And, right now, where is that reported?  In other

         14  words, how does that go up the food chain and where

         15  is that information stored?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         17  The, we inspect approximately 105 properties every

         18  week.  They are, you know, rigorously documented,

         19  they are collected by our division, a division

         20  called the Operations and Management Planning.  They

         21  present that information every other week at a

         22  meeting that we call the Operations Meeting, that's

         23  attended by the Commissioner and all the Borough

         24  Commissioners and most of the Division heads. The

         25  City- wide, each of the individual results is
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          2  presented, as well as the cumulative results in all

          3  categories in many different sort of permutations.

          4                 They, the individual reports are

          5  distributed to the Borough Commissioners, and, you

          6  know, they are expected to review them with their

          7  managers and supervisors and take any corrective

          8  action that is warranted by the reports.  Of course,

          9  if an inspector finds what is considered a potential

         10  safety or an egregious condition, that gets paged

         11  immediately to the manager of the facility at the

         12  time they discover it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  I'm pleased to

         14  here this because it sounds like the information is

         15  all there and so --

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         17  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  -- What we're

         19  really talking about is just figuring out a way, in

         20  a user- friendly format, to make it electronically

         21  available to as many people as possible.

         22                 My final question is, do you know how

         23  many park or beach specific comments the Parks

         24  Department gets currently through, in web form, in

         25  other words through the Internet, e mails, questions
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          2  about Parks?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  I can't give you, I know that the last cumulative

          5  numbers from 3- 1- 1 is that Parks had received

          6  130,000 inquiries over the, I think it was the

          7  fiscal year to date.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  But that's not

          9  specific to the web though, is it?

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  No, that's not specific to the web, no.  That is

         12  just for 3- 1- 1.  I don't have that information,

         13  I'll see if we can produce that number.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  I appreciate

         15  it.  Again, I do appreciate your support of the bill

         16  and particularly of the concept.  I'm confident that

         17  once we get your list of where we can physically

         18  post, that we'll be able to move expeditiously and

         19  make this a law.

         20                 Then, also, really, I mean, I think

         21  the opportunity we have in this City is that when we

         22  get something right, we are able to become a model

         23  for other municipalities.  I mentioned COMPSTAT in

         24  my opening remarks.  What we've seen in COMPSTAT is

         25  that Los Angeles and in Philadelphia and New Orleans
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          2  and Maryland and Baltimore now, people are taking

          3  our idea that worked so well and now implementing it

          4  across the board.

          5                 Because, the truth is, is that when

          6  we have a problem or when we have an issue, it's

          7  bigger than any other municipality in the entire

          8  country.  And, if you're able, the Parks Department

          9  of New York City is able to go park by park, beach

         10  by beach, and report this every single week, and get

         11  it up the chain of command, and not only that, but

         12  then make it available to the public, then what in

         13  the world can any municipality say, how can, what do

         14  they tell their mayor why they can't get it done,

         15  when we can get it done in New York City.

         16                 So, I do really think that we have an

         17  opportunity to do a lot of good over the next months

         18  in New York regarding the parks and the beaches,

         19  hopefully, creating a model nationwide.  I thank you

         20  Madam Chair for your leadership on this.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  Just

         22  a few more questions.  With the parks and playground

         23  inspection criteria, I know that you're familiar

         24  with New Yorkers for Parks, their report card, in

         25  some parks what is shown as a failing on the New

                                                            58

          1  PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Yorkers for Parks report card, are actually parks,

          3  in terms of our own inspection, meaning the Parks

          4  Department, as parks they're okay.  What do you

          5  think is the reason that we're on such opposite

          6  spectrums when it comes to the inspection or

          7  cleanliness or just the upkeeping of the parks?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  There's a basic difference in the methodology

         10  between our two approaches. New Yorkers for Parks,

         11  it is a, I guess a snapshot of the approximately 200

         12  parks that they define as neighborhood parks, and

         13  it's based on, on a visit and some of the criteria

         14  that they use are heavily weighted towards that one

         15  particular visit.  So that, if, you know, a drinking

         16  fountain isn't working, that category gets rated a

         17  zero, for argument sake, and Allison's here, and

         18  she'll explain it in more detail I'm sure, and that

         19  could cause the entire park to be rated poorly and

         20  to receive a failing grade.

         21                 Whereas, in our inspection program

         22  that would be noted, that particular feature might,

         23  might be rated unacceptable, but the entire park

         24  could still pass even if something like that, that

         25  wasn't a safety hazard, that didn't prevent the
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          2  public from, you know, using the rest of the park,

          3  it could still pass.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So, it's

          5  basically what the criteria, and I didn't ask that

          6  question to like pin one person against the other.

          7  I really think it's interesting that like for the

          8  water fountain example, then you would take that

          9  water fountain out of the park as a whole in terms

         10  of what makes it a pass or fail grade, whereas with

         11  New Yorkers for Parks, and I'm sure Allison will

         12  talk about it, that is what would make or break or

         13  give it a failing grade or a passing grade is that

         14  water fountain.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  It has to do with how we calculate our final scores.

         17    You know, for example, the water fountain, the

         18  drinking fountain would be considered unacceptable.

         19  But, that, in and of itself, would not cause the,

         20  what we consider the structural features of a park

         21  or playground, to fail.  Whereas, if it's rated, and

         22  I may not be explaining this entirely, correctly, if

         23  that particular feature is rated zero, all of those

         24  results for every one of those features are added

         25  together and that's what determines the final grade.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  Is that somewhat correct?  Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.  You can

          6  explain it when we call on you, let's do it that

          7  way.  Thank you very much Assistant Commissioner.  I

          8  know, Commissioner Kavanagh, you're going to speak

          9  about the lifeguards and stuff now, am I correct?

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, thank you

         13  very much for your testimony.  Thank you Council

         14  Member Gioia for bringing this us, and Tom, can you

         15  also add my name as a sponsor.  We've been joined by

         16  Council Member Gerson, who looks like he's backing

         17  out of the room.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  No, no, no,

         19  no, backing out of my coat.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, okay.  Thank

         21  you.  Thank you Commissioner, you can get started.

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         23  Okay.  The seven beaches and 52 outdoor pools are

         24  some of our most popular recreation facilities.

         25  Over the last few summers, there have been an
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          2  average of ten million visitors to the beaches and

          3  over one million people to the pools.  Each year, we

          4  work hard to attract qualified candidates to train

          5  as lifeguards and to ensure the public's safety.

          6  Last summer, we hired 975 qualified candidates,

          7  including 44 international lifeguards.

          8                 In addition to maintaining and

          9  staffing the beaches and pools, we offer free swim

         10  instruction to children and adults.  We believe that

         11  cultivating strong swimmers will make visitors to

         12  our beaches and pools safer, and ultimately increase

         13  the number of New Yorkers who can become City

         14  lifeguards.

         15                 Looking ahead to the warmer months,

         16  we are focused on getting the beaches and pools

         17  ready for the busy season.  All the Parks' outdoor

         18  pools are free and open to the public from Saturday,

         19  June 25th to Labor Day.  The hours of operation are

         20  11:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.  Thanks to Mayor Bloomberg,

         21  we have $1.9 million in requirement contracts to

         22  repair the pools.  This work, which includes the

         23  reconstruction of filtration systems, upgrading

         24  electrical systems, replacing old piping and

         25  restoring the pool decks will help the pools operate
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          2  smoothly this summer.

          3                 As I mentioned in my earlier

          4  testimony, we devote extra resources to maintaining

          5  the beaches each year.  The pools also receive

          6  increased resources.  In addition to our year round

          7  employees, we have seasonal staff who help keep the

          8  pools clean. To ensure the public's safety, we place

          9  Park Enforcement Patrol Officers at each pool and

         10  the New York Police Department has units patrolling

         11  the outdoor pools and beaches.  These summer details

         12  have been particularly successful.  There were no

         13  major incidents at our pools all of last summer.

         14                 Because safety is our number one

         15  priority, we work extremely hard to find enough

         16  qualified lifeguards to patrol the pool decks and

         17  ocean beaches.  Each winter and spring, we mount an

         18  aggressive recruiting campaign to attract qualified

         19  candidates to train and hire as lifeguards.

         20  Although we have been successful in hiring more

         21  qualified candidates over the last few years, it is

         22  difficult to hire as many guards as we need to

         23  completely open all of our beaches and pools to the

         24  public for the entire summer.

         25                 As you are aware, one reason
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          2  recruitment has been difficult is declining swimming

          3  programs in the City.  At a Parks Committee Hearing

          4  last June, we discussed Parks' efforts to reverse

          5  this trend by developing comprehensive programming

          6  to ensure that the City's youth are healthy and

          7  active and learn skills such as swimming.

          8                 Our free after school programs,

          9  summer camps and sports programs place a strong

         10  focus on health and fitness for youth.  One program,

         11  Learn to Swim, teaches basic swimming skills to

         12  children ages three and four.  This program is

         13  offered at Parks' indoor and outdoor pools City-

         14  wide, depending on the season.  We expect to hold

         15  classes at 18 of our full- sized outdoor pools this

         16  summer.  In fiscal year 2004, over 7,000 children

         17  participated in this program.  Another 600

         18  participated in our adult Learn to Swim program.

         19                 Once children have outgrown or

         20  completed the Learn to Swim classes, we encourage

         21  their participation in our competitive swimming

         22  teams.  In fiscal year 2004, 800 children joined our

         23  swimming program.  Over the last three years, we

         24  have partnered with the Department of Education to

         25  improve and expand our free youth programming,
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          2  especially those programs focusing on sports and

          3  fitness.

          4                 We hope that we increase the number

          5  of children who swim by expanding this partnership.

          6  We are working with the Department of Education to

          7  offer swimming programs at our recreation centers to

          8  public school students during the school day.  We

          9  also collaborate with the public school athletic

         10  league to promote participation in organized

         11  swimming programs.  With their help, we have been in

         12  contact with all New York City high school athletic

         13  directors and swim team members about our summer

         14  lifeguarding opportunities.

         15                 To facilitate their access to

         16  lifeguard information, we have established a link

         17  between the PSAL's website and the Parks' website.

         18  We believe that these collaborations will help us

         19  meet our long- term goal of increasing the number of

         20  candidates who can complete our lifeguard training

         21  course.

         22                 In addition to this outreach, we are

         23  continuing many proven recruitment, many of our

         24  proven recruitment efforts. Lifeguard posters, such

         25  as the one I'm holding here, and which we have more
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          2  copies available, have been mailed to all public and

          3  private high schools, swim teams, boys and girls

          4  clubs, community board and elected officials, and I

          5  hope you'll be receiving yours in the next few days.

          6                 Lifeguard Wanted flyers are also

          7  mailed to all 30,000 Parks' tennis permit holders,

          8  and we are in the process of mailing flyers with all

          9  special events and ballfield applications we receive

         10  this year.  We have contacted the career centers at

         11  public and private colleges in New York State and

         12  posted the lifeguard position on monstertrak.com.

         13  We are advertising in the Daily News and weekly

         14  papers like the Bronx Press, Courier Life, El

         15  Diario, New York Beacon, Times Ledger and the

         16  Village Voice.

         17                 Our lifeguards have been very active

         18  this year in recruiting potential candidates for our

         19  training program.  They visited 45 high schools

         20  personally and conducted outreach to 145

         21  organizations and individuals that have some

         22  connection with swimming programs.  These results

         23  have, these efforts have resulted in over 1,500 hits

         24  to our website, and over 12,000 calls to 3- 1- 1 for

         25  information on becoming a lifeguard.
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          2                 We continue to work with one of our

          3  service providers, BUNAC, to recruit international

          4  lifeguards for the 2005 beach season.  This group

          5  has identified lifeguards who have proven to be some

          6  of our strongest and best trained swimmers.

          7                 We expect to have our best

          8  international lifeguards return for a third year of

          9  work at New York City's beaches and pools, and we

         10  are happy to welcome all of our returning

         11  lifeguards, because they have the expertise to

         12  ensure that our visitors remain safe.

         13                 Parks only recruits and hires

         14  candidates who are equipped to handle the demanding

         15  physical aspects of the job. Our ocean beaches are

         16  especially difficult to staff.  Lifeguards at our

         17  seven beaches, especially at the Rockaways, must be

         18  exceptionally strong, confident swimmers, who are

         19  able to handle the strong currents and unpredictable

         20  ocean conditions.

         21                 Before applicants can enroll in a

         22  training class, they must take a qualifying test,

         23  which includes an eye examination and a timed swim

         24  test.  Approximately 118 participants have passed

         25  the initial qualifying test and plan to attend the
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          2  first training classes.  The training program is a

          3  35 hour course over a 12 week span, that includes

          4  lessons in swimming skills, rescue techniques, first

          5  aid and CPR.

          6                 Training classes have, are being

          7  offered at Manhattan's West 59th Street Recreation

          8  Center, Far Rockaway High School in Queens and

          9  Curtis High School in Staten Island.  We also offer

         10  free passes to everyone enrolled in one of our

         11  training classes.  This free pass allows trainees to

         12  use the pools at any one of our recreation centers

         13  to build their strength and stamina and improve

         14  their skills.

         15                 As the 2005 beach and pool season

         16  approaches, we are optimistic that we will have

         17  another successful summer.  We will continue to work

         18  with the Department of Education and other

         19  organizations to promote swimming, and we hope that

         20  the Council will assist us in finding experienced

         21  lifeguards and promoting physical activity,

         22  especially swimming, among the City's youth. I'll be

         23  happy to answer any questions you have at this time.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         25  much.  You know, this is a topic that very much
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          2  interests me.  It's funny, I was just having a

          3  conversation Friday, or Thursday, with Council

          4  Member Oliver Koppell, who was telling me how he

          5  went to Bronx Science, was on the swim team, every

          6  year they lost to Evander Childs (phonetic), he was

          7  a lifeguard at Orchard Beach and his story is the

          8  story that I wish our young people now would be able

          9  to tell.

         10                 But, unfortunately, when we're

         11  dealing with schools that we can put money in the

         12  schools to have police officers, but not to repair

         13  the pools, we're not going to have kids that swim.

         14  So, this is going to be a reoccurring thing and I

         15  don't think it's a Parks only issue or a Department

         16  of Education.  I think it's going to take a holistic

         17  approach to address this issue of getting swimming

         18  back into schools, so that we can get qualified

         19  lifeguards and create it such that we are getting

         20  our kids in the pools younger and younger, and by

         21  the time they are of the age that they can become

         22  lifeguards, they have the training to pass the test,

         23  because, as we've talked before, it is very

         24  vigorous.  But, just a few questions.  How many

         25  positions did we fill for lifeguards in 2004?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          3  We had 975 lifeguards at the peak in 2004.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And how many are

          5  we looking to hire for 2005?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  Optimally, we can hire up to 1,200 lifeguards.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Does it look

          9  like a realistic number in terms that we could get

         10  that many qualified lifeguards?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         12  I don't think we have ever achieved the 1,200.  We,

         13  we, we're feeling pretty optimistic right now about

         14  breaking the 1,000 barrier this year.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, good.  So,

         16  our numbers, let me ask, are our numbers going up

         17  each year in terms of the number of lifeguards?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         19  To be honest, last year, we slipped slightly.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  The two prior years we approached 1,000.  I think we

         23  hit 985 in 2002 and 994 in 2003, and it slipped back

         24  a little bit in 2004, unfortunately.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Have, are our
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          2  numbers increasing in terms of the foreign

          3  lifeguards that we're getting? Are they staying the

          4  same or are they going down?

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          6  They grow slightly because, you know, the foreign

          7  lifeguards, just as any other lifeguard, are

          8  entitled to return if they complete the season

          9  successfully, and, a good number of them do.  Each

         10  year we do get a new group of between 20 and 30.

         11  So, we had 44 last year, we're projecting we'll have

         12  probably between 50 and 60 this coming summer.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Do we look to

         14  other sources, and I don't know, like, for example

         15  Asphalt Green, where they have a great program

         16  there.  Is that a resource in terms of maybe being

         17  able to identify potential lifeguards?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         19  Well, we, we, we speak to Asphalt Green about, you

         20  know, the opportunities for lifeguards and Carol

         21  Tweedy is well aware of our program.  We tried to

         22  get a swimming development course underway there

         23  last year, you know, geared towards kids who wanted

         24  to be lifeguards. It wasn't terribly successful, I

         25  have to say, we couldn't, you know, sustain it,
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          2  unfortunately.  But, Asphalt Green, you know, was

          3  very helpful in that effort.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  How well or how

          5  is the relationship going with the Parks Department

          6  and the Department of Education in terms of getting

          7  people into the pool and the How to Swim program, I

          8  think it's called, or Learn to Swim?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  Well, the Learn to Swim program is strictly a Parks

         11  program and we have great --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh okay.

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14   -- And, unfortunately, we can't accommodate all the

         15  people who are interested in participating during

         16  the summer, because, you know, everybody wants to

         17  learn to swim then.  But, our relationship with the

         18  Department of Education is growing and, in fact,

         19  Commissioner Benepe met with Chancellor Klein about

         20  two weeks ago and one of the items was the swimming

         21  programs that we discussed.

         22                 It is, one, expensive.  There are

         23  complications in terms of transportation, in terms

         24  of carving time out during the school day to

         25  accommodate, you know, another good idea.  You know,
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          2  there are many good ideas of what you can do during

          3  the course of the school day, but making them all

          4  work is a challenge and I don't envy Chancellor

          5  Klein's job in that respect.  He was, he remains

          6  supportive of the concept.  We're still trying to

          7  work out the details.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Do you know

          9  currently if there are any Parks Department programs

         10  that are in public schools that have pools,

         11  currently, right like, indoors --

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  Swimming programs?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  No, I don't know of any swimming programs.  We do

         17  have programs in public schools, particularly our

         18  natural classroom environmental education programs

         19  work with a number of public schools, but swimming,

         20  no.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Do you see this

         22  effort in terms of -- I see it as two- fold.

         23  Obviously, making sure that we have sufficient

         24  number of lifeguards for when the season opens and

         25  that they're trained and can do it, their job.  But,
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          2  I also see it in us planning for the future and

          3  making sure that we are somehow creating a program

          4  where we are raising up young people now, getting

          5  them familiar with the pool, acclimated with water,

          6  so that it's a gradual process.  Because, again, I

          7  don't think you learn to swim and then automatically

          8  have the skills to become a lifeguard.  I don't

          9  remember not knowing how to swim, but I know I am

         10  not a strong enough swimmer to attempt to be a

         11  lifeguard.

         12                 But, so, do you see us, and when I

         13  say us, I mean everybody involved, making enough

         14  effort on the back end to address the issue that

         15  maybe five or ten years from now, our need for

         16  lifeguards, foreign lifeguards will go down, as

         17  we're able to give more young people in New York

         18  City, who, clearly, would love to have a summer job

         19  at a beach or on a pool, that opportunity?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  No, that is our goal.  I mean, the foreign

         22  lifeguards, they're great kids and we enjoy having

         23  them, but we want these jobs to go to New York City

         24  school kids, to the extent possible.

         25                 You're right, even if, even if a kid,
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          2  or child, will never be a good enough swimmer to be

          3  a lifeguard, it is extremely important that everyone

          4  has some basic swimming skills. It is one of the

          5  most important things they can do in terms of

          6  personal safety.  I think drowning deaths are the

          7  second largest category of death among children

          8  after, after automobile accidents, and it's

          9  something that can be prevented if people are

         10  exposed to the, to the basic skills just to protect

         11  themselves, should they find themselves in the

         12  water.  So, yes, we agree with that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Lastly, before

         14  we go to Council Member Addabbo, does the Parks

         15  Department reach out to the colleges and

         16  universities in the City to attract potential

         17  lifeguards?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         19  Yes we do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.  Council

         21  Member Addabbo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         23  Madam Chair and, again, a very important issue,

         24  thank you.  Commissioner Kavanagh, thank you for

         25  your efforts and Parks Department as well, for
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          2  keeping our beaches safe during the season.  Again,

          3  as a representative of Rockaway. I'm most

          4  appreciative, because Rockaway has one of the most

          5  treacherous coastlines there is. Again, I know the

          6  lifeguards there are the top notch, you know, and do

          7  qualify to be a lifeguard, so we appreciate the

          8  training and the efforts made there.

          9                 Just a couple of real quick

         10  questions.  The total amount of lifeguards, how,

         11  what is the percentage of those that are foreign as

         12  opposed to domestic, what are the percentages of the

         13  total, roughly?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         15  Roughly, 95 percent are local kids, less than five

         16  percent are foreign- born,

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And, if we

         18  could talk about their hours or the shifts that the

         19  lifeguards have.  It's an issue down in my district

         20  in Rockaway.  A resident comes home, gets ready to

         21  go to the beach, runs out to the beach, and they may

         22  have, maybe, 45 minutes before the lifeguard goes.

         23  You know, they get home at five, they get changed,

         24  they go across the street and the lifeguards leaving

         25  at six.  So, they may have an hour, if they're lucky
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          2  45 minutes, and we know that the nicer weather, the

          3  sun's still out until roughly 8:00 or so.

          4                 What is the better likelihood, in

          5  your opinion, or more of a likelihood, that we can

          6  shift the hours of the lifeguards, maybe instead of

          7  10:00 to 6:00, maybe to 11:00 to 7:00, or expand the

          8  hours?  If we don't reach the goal of, say, you

          9  know, 1,200 lifeguards in 2005, and we have less

         10  lifeguards, you know, maybe we can do shift changes

         11  that allow us to do 10:00 to 7:00 or something like

         12  that.  So, what is more a likelihood, shifting the

         13  hours or changing the hours? Or expanding the hours,

         14  I should say.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  Well, if you expand the hours, the result is you're

         17  going to have to close some of the beach.  With a

         18  finite number of lifeguards, you can either, you can

         19  either spread them out or have them work a longer

         20  shift in a smaller section of the beach, and I think

         21  you well know how popular closing sections of the

         22  beach is --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Very

         24  popular.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2   -- So it is a balancing act.  Were we to have, you

          3  know, the full compliment of lifeguards, at that

          4  point, it might be possible to extend hours at some

          5  selected and carefully managed locations.  We could

          6  not do it across the board, across the entire beach.

          7                 Even in that scenario, it does create

          8  some, some problems, some management problems.  I'm

          9  not saying they're insurmountable, but, you know,

         10  people get the idea that the beach is open until

         11  7:00 or 7:30, when it may only be one section or two

         12  sections or a few sections that are, that are

         13  actually open.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  With the

         15  proper signage or the proper example that the beach

         16  is closed because there's no lifeguard, there may be

         17  a lifeguard, is the Parks Department willing to try

         18  and work that out, if we do close down certain

         19  sections after 6:00 and keep some open longer?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  We would certainly be willing to explore it, I'm not

         22   --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Okay.  Is it

         24  easier to just shift the hours?  Because, you know,

         25  again, my residents and being specific to my
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          2  district, my residents feel that they don't get out

          3  there at 10:00 in the morning.  They're more apt to

          4  go out there with their children, as they wake up,

          5  and more apt to stay later.  So, even a shift of

          6  hours instead of 10:00 to 6:00, maybe 11:00 to 7:00

          7  would be more amenable to the Department as well as

          8  my constituents.  Is that easier to do, keeping the

          9  same hours and shifting them?

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  Well, it would be easier than closing sections.

         12  But, I suspect that you might hear from the early

         13  morning people if you made that change. But, it was

         14  something we would --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Look into

         16  pleasing the majority --

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  We'd be willing, we'd be willing to talk to you

         19  about it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And I do

         21  appreciate that. Lastly, I know they do training at

         22  Far Rockaway High School.  I had read somewhere, and

         23  I may be mistaken of what I read, about the testing

         24  taken done at Far Rockaway High School.  Is there

         25  any plans to do the actual testing in addition to
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          2  the training at Far Rockaway High School?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ADDABBO:

          4  We already did some testing at Far Rockaway.  I

          5  think we had 28 or 30 applicants, of which 18

          6  qualified, and yes --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And that's

          8  going to be continuing, you will continue to do the

          9  testing at Far Rockaway?

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ADDABBO:  I

         11  think we're going to do the testing again before we

         12  start the class.  But, once we start the class, we,

         13  they would not, I don't think we could do testing

         14  once we start the class.  You would be behind the

         15  rest of the class and there's no way we can make it

         16  up at Far Rockaway, because the pool is only

         17  available to us one night a week, you know, through

         18  the, through the end of May.  We don't have a chance

         19  to do any make- ups in that scenario.  They can go

         20  to 59th Street and perhaps catch up with the rest of

         21  the class. But, they would not be able to do the

         22  full training out there.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Understand.

         24  Thank you very much Commissioner.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  You're welcome.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Council Member

          4  Gerson.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          6  very much Madam Chair.  Commissioner, it's good to

          7  see you.  I'm just a little frustrated.  My Chair,

          8  as eloquently as anyone could, expressed the

          9  imperative for children to learn to swim, you

         10  concurred and underscored this with your statistic

         11  that drowning is the number two cause of deaths

         12  among young people.  I think we all recognize that

         13  swimming is important.  We're an oceanfront, we're a

         14  water City.  For safety, for self- esteem, for

         15  health.  But, we've been having this conversation

         16  for almost as long as I've been on this Committee.

         17                 As I recollect, the Administration

         18  was going to try and put together a more

         19  comprehensive plan involving a heightened level of

         20  coordination between the Parks Department and the

         21  Department of Education to advance these goals on

         22  which we all agree.  I'm not hearing much progress,

         23  as much as I would have liked to, at least.

         24                 I mean, you know, a telltale

         25  question, I think was asked by my Chair about pools
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          2  in schools.  And, you're saying you know of not one

          3  where there's a Parks Department swimming program.

          4  If you can't fit it into the daytime hours, you

          5  know, I remember taking swimming lessons after 3:00.

          6    It's seems to me every school with a pool should

          7  have a swimming club after 3:00, whether it's

          8  staffed by Parks or staffed by the Department of

          9  Education, it should be done.  That would be a bare

         10  minimum of a beginning.

         11                 I mean, I remember, well, I've

         12  expressed in the past my own autobiographical

         13  involvement with swimming, I don't have to reiterate

         14  that, but let me ask you this, what is the current

         15  budget of your Learn to Swim program?  How much is

         16  spent on that?

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  I'm sorry, I don't have that information with me

         19  right now.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  You know

         21  what, maybe I'll, just in the interest of time, if

         22  you could get back to me and to this Committee with

         23  the budgetary information.  We are approaching a new

         24  budget cycle, a new fiscal year.  I think it would

         25  be helpful to us to understand a) how much funding
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          2  is currently being spent on swimming instruction by

          3  the Parks Department, and I would hope we could get

          4  the same information from the Department of

          5  Education, b) you testified you can't serve the

          6  current need for your Learn to Swim program, I

          7  presume it's the same for the older kids.  It would

          8  be helpful for us to know how much of a waiting list

          9  and what you estimate you need, how much additional

         10  funding you need to meet, you know, the demand

         11  reflected by the waiting list.

         12                 I think that will give us an

         13  opportunity to begin to maybe take this issue to the

         14  next phase.  It would be interesting to know how

         15  much money would be required for the Parks

         16  Department to set up a swimming instruction program

         17  in the schools with swimming pools during after

         18  school hours.  It would be helpful, I think, to have

         19  a sense of dollars and cents, what we're currently

         20  spending and what we need to spend in order to

         21  expand.  So, maybe we could in the next budget, you

         22  know, get some additional programs going, get some

         23  additional funding.  So, I'll just, I'm going to

         24  shock you Madam Chair, I'm going curtail my

         25  questioning and just leave it with that request, if
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          2  you could get back to us.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I lost the best

          4  Alan.

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          6  We will --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  You said it,

          8  you said it all.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  We will, of course, try to provide you with that

         11  information.  In terms of our Learn to Swim

         12  programs, it's not so much a budgetary issue, it's

         13  capacity.  We have only a limited number of pools

         14  where we can provide it and only a limited number of

         15  hours a day without cutting into the normal pool

         16  time for the general public.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Except that

         18  we have unused pools on weekends and after school

         19  hours in the public schools which have swimming

         20  pools.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  No, I'm talking about our pools, again.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But, I'm

         24  talking about --

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  Yes, I understand, you're --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- The City.

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          5   -- Looking globally.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Right.

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          8  But, it's, from our perspective it's not so much a

          9  budget issue.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         11  much Commissioner.  My issue in terms of lifeguards

         12  really is not with the Parks Department.  I think

         13  that if we could get just at a higher level some

         14  administrators in a room and really talk about the

         15  issue, identify -- right now, the Department of

         16  Education, in my opinion, has no clue as to what

         17  pools they have that are working or not working.  I

         18  mean, they'll tell me pools are working, meaning

         19  it's a hole in the ground, but it doesn't have

         20  water.

         21                 So, it's not, I believe that the

         22  Parks Department is doing an excellent job in terms

         23  of trying to recruit and make it home grown, the

         24  locals, and reaching out and getting kids in the

         25  pool where they can.  I really think that if we
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          2  could just get, you know, maybe Bloomberg, Adrian,

          3  Klein, myself, if we could just sit down and -- I'm

          4  a firm believer people have money for what they want

          5  to have money for, and this hasn't hit the priority.

          6                 I guarantee you that if we could just

          7  get some of the pools, you know, as Oliver Koppell

          8  was telling and clearly he -- I better, I don't want

          9  to say it like that, he went to Bronx Science a

         10  little while ago and, no I'm trying to say it

         11  diplomatically, but clearly he remembers the Bronx

         12  and the pools working and Evander Childs and now

         13  that's one of the schools where they have a pool and

         14  it's not being utilized, that type of thing.

         15                 So, it would be great if somehow we

         16  could stop having this conversation year after year,

         17  when I say the Parks Department is doing a really

         18  great job, but, and we could really start talking

         19  about, you know what, we've got two more pools on

         20  line this year, in the Department of Education, that

         21  we could have kids in the water and then next year,

         22  it's more and more. So that, ten years from now, our

         23  number of international lifeguards are going to be

         24  those trying to compete for those small positions to

         25  come to New York City because we have so many kids
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          2  that can fill the job.  So, thank you for --

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  We look forward to that day.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I know.  Thank

          6  you very much. Our next panel is Barbara Larkin from

          7  Belle Harbor Property Owners Association and our own

          8  Allison Farina.  Thank you.  Thank you very much.

          9  Happy Valentine's Day.  When you get ready to

         10  testify, Ms. Larkin, did I get that right? Just

         11  identify, make sure your button, your light is off

         12  and, okay, very good, and identify your name and

         13  association for the record.

         14                 MS. LARKIN:  My name is Barbara

         15  Larkin.  I'm the President of the Belle Harbor

         16  Property Owners Association.  Okay, excuse me, this

         17  is my first time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         19                 MS. LARKIN:  Good afternoon Madam

         20  Chairperson, Chairwoman Foster, Members of the City

         21  Council who are here today, invited guests and

         22  members of the audience.  It's on.  I would like to

         23  thank Councilman Joe Addabbo for inviting members of

         24  the, his community, his constituents to come today,

         25  and I'm very glad that I was able to do so.  I'd
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          2  also like to wish everyone a Happy Valentine's Day.

          3                 The issues that I wish to touch upon

          4  are lifeguard coverage, including the hours, the

          5  cleanliness of the sand, and the beach and the

          6  boardwalk, and also the condition and the level of

          7  the sand on the, that's adjacent to the sea walls on

          8  beaches where there are sea walls.  Some beaches

          9  have boardwalks, some beaches have sea walls.

         10                 Belle Harbor is a portion of the

         11  Rockaway peninsula.  I have lived in Belle Harbor

         12  for over 35 years and visited this beautiful part of

         13  New York City all of my life.  I taught at the local

         14  school for over 30 years, brought my students on

         15  nature walks and raised my children there.  The

         16  beach was their backyard.  It was no surprise to me

         17  that my son, then a student of Polly Prep and all

         18  ivy in swimming chose to work as a lifeguard in the

         19  Rockaways, commencing when he was just 16 years of

         20  age.  At that time, if my memory serves me

         21  correctly, the season truly began Memorial Day, and

         22  the lifeguards were on duty through Labor Day and

         23  then there was a skeleton crew the weekend after

         24  Labor Day.

         25                 To emphasize my passion for the
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          2  health and safety of the residents and visitors

          3  alike, I wish to share with you one incident which

          4  occurred on one of my son's first day as a New York

          5  City lifeguard.  He was 16 years of age.  He had

          6  just started, and I believe he swam 50 yards three

          7  times to save three individuals on the last day of

          8  school.  They were there to celebrate the ending of

          9  their high school year and they were very excited

         10  and the water was extremely rough.

         11                 I was very proud of the fact that I

         12  heard later on that my son had done this feat.  I

         13  was actually on my way down to the beach to visit

         14  him with a sandwich and treats and my neighbors had

         15  suggested that I don't go down there, that he was

         16  actually resting.  And, I said, well, is everything

         17  alright and they proceeded to tell me the story.  I

         18  was very glad that, although he was exhausted, these

         19  students were alive.  That's because there was

         20  lifeguard coverage during the week in June, which we

         21  did not have last year.

         22                 I did write a letter to Commissioner

         23  Benepe, which I do not have a copy of today, but I

         24  can certainly forward to this Committee.  He

         25  responded, as well as State Senator Malcolm Smith,
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          2  and I can also forward those letters to this

          3  Committee.

          4                 I believe that there are very, very

          5  creative people in the Parks Department and I think

          6  if there are other areas throughout this country,

          7  coastal communities which can have lifeguards early

          8  in the morning, it doesn't have to be one neighbor

          9  against another, or one community against another.

         10  Having lifeguards early in the morning or late at

         11  night.

         12                 Having been a teacher for over 30

         13  years, I know that I taught from 8:40 to 3:00.  When

         14  they needed teachers early in the morning, teachers

         15  volunteered to teach, they were paid for it, but

         16  they volunteered to come in early to teach the

         17  children, either preparation for the ELA, and they

         18  stayed after school and the teachers were very happy

         19  to do that.

         20                 Since I was glad to hear from

         21  Assistant Commissioner Kavanagh that the budgetary

         22  issue is not really the issue, then why not ask

         23  these lifeguards if they would like to participate

         24  in some overtime?  We definitely could use them and

         25  I would like to see them there.  As I said, it
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          2  doesn't have to be an either and or, or one

          3  community against another, especially if the budget

          4  is not at issue, very glad to hear that.  Because,

          5  there are very creative ways to solve problems

          6  without pitting one community against the another.

          7                 The other issue that I would like to

          8  initiate or speak about is the cleanliness.  There

          9  is an experimental, relatively new program, I

         10  believe, that was initiated by our current

         11  Commissioner, which yields very, very happy dogs and

         12  very, very happy dog owners.  However, leashed

         13  during the summer because of the enforced, the fact

         14  that the enforcement is not there, the sand is

         15  really not healthy.

         16                 Now, I know that most of the time was

         17  spent here talking about the condition and the

         18  quality of the water, and of course, that is very,

         19  very important.  As I said, I was a mother and I was

         20  a teacher, and there's nothing that is more

         21  important to me than the health and safety of

         22  children, especially.  But, we need to realize that

         23  this material is not biodegradable and plainly, it's

         24  just disgusting.  I mean, I took a walk on the

         25  boardwalk yesterday, because it was a beautiful day
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          2  and the children were playing in the sand, and if

          3  they were my children and my grandchildren, I would

          4  have to not allow them to do that because the

          5  condition of the sand is not what it should be.

          6                 I would also like to state that the,

          7  the condition of the boardwalk, especially from

          8  116th Street to 126th Street, is not in as new

          9  condition as further east.  A lot of those planks

         10  have not been replaced and I feel that the Parks

         11  Department employees do a very, very good job of

         12  emptying the refuse containers, they really, really

         13  do.  I mean, those containers are quite heavy, the

         14  hook them, and you know, I mean, how they do it is

         15  just amazing.

         16                 But, I would like to suggest that

         17  perhaps these containers could be placed in the

         18  sand, near the boardwalk, as opposed to they being

         19  on the boardwalk, which requires a truck to go on

         20  the boardwalk and make these planks quite loose.  As

         21  a matter of fact, there was one plank that was

         22  missing yesterday and had I been on my bicycle, I'm

         23  sure, you know, an accident may have ensued if I

         24  wasn't looking down, as opposed to looking forward.

         25  So, I think that that's also a very, very important
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          2  issue.

          3                 I would also like to see, I know that

          4  the equipment for doing this is very expensive, but

          5  for the last couple of years, the level of the sand

          6  on the beach side of the sea wall was not level with

          7  the sidewalk, as it had been in past years.  The

          8  reason why this is so important is because if you

          9  have parents toting wagons with all of their

         10  supplies, including their children, in them, it's

         11  very difficult to manage, to pull that wagon down to

         12  the sea if there is a mound of sand that's not level

         13  with the adjacent sidewalk.

         14                 Also, people with disabilities and

         15  also my mom is 84, so she never comes to my beach,

         16  she only goes to where she is because where my beach

         17  is, it's much too high.  I have spoken to the Parks

         18  Department about it in the past, and they, I believe

         19  they were waiting for the proper equipment, and I'm

         20  anxious to see that this proper equipment is either

         21  in place or soon to be in place, and that the level

         22  of the sand would be level with the sidewalk.  So, I

         23  appreciate that.

         24                 So, basically, in essence, what I

         25  would like to see is a full contingency of
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          2  lifeguards from Memorial Day through Labor Day.  I

          3  realize that to have the lifeguards on duty all day,

          4  every day, throughout the week, from Memorial Day,

          5  is asking for a bit much.  There aren't that many

          6  visitors, and, you know, the weather is not really

          7  conducive to people going into the water.

          8                 Surely, I would like to see from the

          9  middle of June, most definitely the last week in

         10  June, have a full contingency of lifeguards for the

         11  safety of not only the residents of Belle Harbor,

         12  Edgemere, Far Rockaway, but for the visitors who

         13  come, especially the school children who think that,

         14  you know, the water may not be as rough as they

         15  anticipate, and it is very, very rough, and you do

         16  have to be very, very special.

         17                 But, I'm very glad to hear that there

         18  are new recruitment initiatives in place and I would

         19  love to see 1,200 lifeguards hired for this

         20  particular year.  Again, I know of a few who would

         21  love to come in a little bit earlier and perhaps

         22  stay later, so that the residents and people who

         23  visit who would like to come down a little bit

         24  earlier, perhaps stay later, especially when, you

         25  know, the temperature is above 90 degrees, not have
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          2  to think about they're breaking the law.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          4                 MS. LARKIN:  I thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          6  much.  I think what's encouraging is that you heard

          7  Council Member Addabbo and Deputy Commissioner

          8  Kavanagh say they were going to have the

          9  conversation to see what can be done to accommodate

         10  the hours.

         11                 MS. LARKIN:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  In terms of the

         13  budget issue, if I understood the Commissioner

         14  correctly, he was talking about the Learn to Swim

         15  program currently in Parks Department pools, is that

         16  correct Commissioner, where there's not a budget

         17  issue, not across the board?  Okay, then, very good.

         18    Council Member Addabbo.  Okay.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         20  Madam Chair. If I may, I want to thank Barbara for

         21  being here.  Ms. Larkin has been very active in the

         22  Rockaway community and, again, I think it's these

         23  types of active residents across the City who put a

         24  little pressure on us Council Members, to make sure

         25  that the beaches and the pools are, you know, in the
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          2  best condition they can be as we work with the

          3  Administration and the Parks Department.  So, I

          4  thank Barbara and constituents like her for speaking

          5  out.  So, thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Absolutely.

          7                 MS. LARKIN:  Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Let me say thank

          9  you also. What makes this Council and this City so

         10  great is that our interests are very different, in

         11  that you come from an acute community where you have

         12  beaches, which is great.  I don't have any beaches

         13  in my area, but the concern to make sure that

         14  everybody's needs are met are what's important.

         15                 Hopefully, we will get the 1,200 and

         16  extend hours, because it does, you know, if you're a

         17  morning person, you'd like to get there early, on

         18  and on.  So, thank you very much for taking the time

         19  to testify.  We've just been joined by Council

         20  Member Letitia James, welcome, from Brooklyn.

         21  Allison, thank you.

         22                 MS. FARINA:  Good afternoon.  Thank

         23  you Parks Committee Chair Foster, as well as the

         24  entire Parks Committee, Council Member Gioia, who's

         25  left already, and, of course, former Parks Committee
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          2  Chair Addabbo, Council Member Gerson and thank you

          3  Council Member James for joining us.

          4                 Good afternoon.  My name is Allison

          5  Farina.  I am with, I represent New Yorkers for

          6  Parks, which is a City- wide parks advocacy

          7  organization, working to bring increased park

          8  services and safer parks to all New York City

          9  neighborhoods.

         10                 We have two recommendations on

         11  lifeguards, one, which everybody seems to agree, we

         12  need to employ New York City youth as much as we

         13  can.  The benefits, which we also all agree to, is

         14  that this provides jobs and employment to our young

         15  people, and it fosters education through solid work

         16  experience, expands these kids' just life experience

         17  in general, and third, we see that there is, you

         18  know, stewardship of the local pool and beach by

         19  those residents that live there.  That's kind of

         20  invaluable.

         21                 Second, on the issue of lifeguards,

         22  the need to improve recruitment of local lifeguards

         23  by two different ways. We'd love to see the

         24  development expansion of training and education

         25  outreach programs with both the Department of
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          2  Education, as well as the Department of Community

          3  and Youth Development.  As much as we can foster

          4  inter- agency collaboration, that would phenomenal.

          5  Also, forging relationships with non- profits, such

          6  as the YMCA.  I'm sure they have a pretty incredible

          7  and extensive learn to swim program, and who knows,

          8  maybe their pools could also be ones that could be

          9  accessible if there's a capacity issue.

         10                 Now, I'm moving onto, I guess, Intro.

         11  462.  We wholeheartedly support and urge the Council

         12  to pass this piece of legislation.  We created the

         13  New Yorkers for Parks, as was mentioned before, the

         14  report on Parks, a few years ago, specifically

         15  because the Parks inspection, the PIP ratings were

         16  not made public.

         17                 Our particular report card, just to

         18  clarify, I think there could be disparities in the

         19  grading systems, because I think we focus more on

         20  the user- friendly experience when you enter a park.

         21    So, we're looking at it from the user's

         22  perspective.  I think the DPR might be looking at it

         23  with a slight bent towards the liability issues that

         24  might be there.

         25                 Specifically, bathrooms and drinking
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          2  fountains, as I understand, are not, they don't

          3  contribute to whether or not the DPR will categorize

          4  a park as having been acceptable or unacceptable.

          5  Whereas, it will autofail for us if these particular

          6  features, because from a park user's perspective,

          7  you go in, you need to use the bathroom, you need to

          8  take a drink of water in the hot summer days.  Those

          9  are really like vital and important, as is access.

         10  I think we, it's a huge issue.  Like, we'll penalize

         11  a park if certain areas of the park are

         12  inaccessible, whereas I think that's not part of the

         13  PIP grading system.

         14                 So, yes, the Commissioner, the Deputy

         15  Commissioner was just correct in saying that it's

         16  the methodologies that are slightly different, and

         17  that's how come you can end up with different scores

         18  in the end.

         19                 We are glad to hear that these park

         20  by park PIP results are, hopefully, will be made

         21  public and on the Internet in March.  We look

         22  forward to this.  We've advocated in the past for

         23  this same issue.

         24                 Our other advocacy efforts, such as

         25  support and promotion in carrying Intro. 470, along
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          2  with the Public Safety Committee, calls for the same

          3  kind of transparency.  We believe a transparent

          4  government is a good government and we believe a

          5  well informed park user is a safer and a healthier

          6  park user.

          7                 We also would like to avoid the

          8  growing digital divide we think both the actual

          9  beach postings, as well as the Internet information

         10  is crucial, so that those people that can't access

         11  it or if it's going to be a 3- 1- 1 thing, if that's

         12  the easier method, so that everybody is on the same

         13  page, so to speak.

         14                 Full disclosure of the Department of

         15  Health and DPR inspections are a fantastic way to

         16  improve governmental accountability while increasing

         17  New Yorker's safety and health.

         18                 Finally, specifically with 462,

         19  Section C, I would just want to make one comment,

         20  that the last sentence says, inspections made

         21  pursuant to the Department's park inspection program

         22  and ratings and/or inspections may pursue to the

         23  Department's Parkstat Plus program.  I would just

         24  recommend that that be conjunctive, so it would read

         25  and inspections, instead of and/or, so we, again,
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          2  we're just providing all the park users with the

          3  most amount of information possible, especially that

          4  PIP results rating, which we're very anxious and

          5  looking forward to that being made public.

          6                 Finally, in terms of the extending

          7  the hours of the beaches, Council Member Addabbo, it

          8  made me remember when I was a kid, you know, my

          9  mom's idea of camp was packing our bright yellow

         10  banana colored car, heading down to Beach 135th

         11  Street, Rockaway, and, you know, spending the whole

         12  day there, and the more hours the better for kids,

         13  for adults.  I always like to get, you know, my skin

         14  used to turn that prune wrinkly type of way and that

         15  just reminded me of that and I think everybody would

         16  agree, you know, if hours were expanded, that would

         17  be fantastic for everybody.  So, thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  We

         20  can all look forward to being wrinkly.  Just a quick

         21  question, what do you mean by Parks being

         22  inaccessible?

         23                 MS. FARINA:  I think we have

         24  something as part of our evaluations that if, like a

         25  part of the park is fenced off or if the comfort
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          2  station is actually shut, closed --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, okay.

          4                 MS. FARINA:  -- And padlocked, that

          5  would be inaccessible, whereas I don't think that

          6  impacts the Parks Department, and the Deputy

          7  Commissioner can correct me if I'm wrong, I don't

          8  think that impacts their rating as to whether the

          9  park is acceptable or unacceptable because that

         10  feature is basically just then not counted towards

         11  anything.  We think it's, from a park user's

         12  perspective, a very important thing to have. If it's

         13  there, then someone expects to use it and it be open

         14  and accessible.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Gotcha.

         16                 MS. FARINA:  Same thing for drinking

         17  fountains and spray showers.  It's the water

         18  features, for the most part.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Alright.  Thank

         20  you very much.  I think the lifeguard issue, we're

         21  all absolutely on the same page and --

         22                 MS. FARINA:  Sure.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  -- Where we are,

         24  what we'd like to see and now the hump is doing what

         25  we need to do to kind of implement it and try to get
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          2  it going in terms of making sure we're getting more

          3  kids in the water and teaching them how to swim, and

          4  then, eventually, getting them in a program and so

          5  on and so on.

          6                 MS. FARINA:  If there's any way we

          7  can, I mean, if we can offer any assistance, I know

          8  that the head of our organization and Kristen

          9  Depalermo (phonetic) spent many years at the YMCA.

         10  I'm sure if there are names or recommendations of

         11  people that might be useful, if, in fact, that's

         12  something that the Department wants to end up

         13  pursuing, we can be helpful in that category.  So,

         14  just let us know.

         15                      CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you

         16  very much. We're good?  Thank you very much Allison.

         17    Seeing that there is no more testimony, this

         18  meeting is adjourned.  Happy Valentine's Day.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 3:05 p.m.)
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